# **Bylaws**

#### Kalamazoo County Transportation Authority ("Authority")

Adopted by the Authority at a meeting held on February 13, 2023

B. Blissett, Clerk

## Article I Introduction

The Authority has the power to adopt bylaws under Act 196 (the Public Transportation Authority Act, PA 196 of 1986, as amended.

#### Article II Board of Directors

(See chapter 4 of the Authority's Articles for Board composition, etc.)

Section 2.1 Appointment. The County appoints each of the Directors Subsequent Directors shall be appointed in the same manner as the original appointment at the expiration of each Director's term of office. Directors shall be residents of Kalamazoo County and should be representative of public transportation interests, as they exist in the County.

Section 2.2 Voting. Each Director has one vote. Board decisions require the approval of a majority of the Directors who attend a meeting that has a quorum. Five Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. A Director may participate in a meeting by telephone, but that Director does not count toward a quorum and has no right to vote.

Section 2.3 Term - Expiration of Term - Continuation in Office - Filling of Vacancy. Each Director serves a three-year term. A Director, whose term of office has expired shall continue to hold office until that Director's successor has been appointed by the County Board. A Director may be reappointed. If a vacancy is caused by death, resignation or removal of a Director, a successor shall be appointed by the County Board to hold office for the remained of the term so vacated.

<u>Section 2.4 Compensation of Directors.</u> - Directors serve without compensation.

Section 2.5 Removal. The Kalamazoo County Board of Commissioners may, upon a 2/3rds vote of the elected and serving members of the Board of Commissioners, remove a Director prior to the expiration of the Director's term of office.

- <u>Section 2.6 Resignation.</u> A Director may resign from office at any time, to be effective upon the Authority's receipt of written notice of resignation unless the resignation notice states a later time.
- Section 2.7 Conflict of Interest. No Director, officer or employee of the Authority may have any financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract or other dealing with the Authority, unless all material facts relating to that interest are disclosed to the Board and the Board authorizes the contract or other dealing. That Director's presence at a meeting where the vote is taken counts toward a quorum, but that Director is not entitled to vote on the matter. The interested Director, officer or employee must promptly inform the Board or that person's supervisor, as the case may be, of a potential conflict of interest.
- <u>Section 2.8</u> <u>Annual Meeting.</u> The Board must meet in the first quarter of each calendar year to elect officers and transact other business as the Board determines.
- <u>Section 2.9</u> <u>Regular Meetings.</u> The Board may adopt a schedule of regular meetings. The secretary must give written notice of that schedule to each Director before the first regular meeting. No other notice of regular meetings need be given to Directors
- Section 2.10 Special Meetings. The Chairperson or any two Directors may direct the Clerk to give notice of a special Director meeting. The Clerk must give written notice of that meeting to each Director at least 48 hours before the special meeting. The notice need not specify either the purpose or the business to be transacted at that special meeting. The notice may be given by telephone to a number indicated by each Director as the one to be used for that purpose, or by any other method of communication. The clerk must keep a written record of the notification method used for each Director.
- <u>Section 2.11</u> <u>Waiver of Meeting Notices.</u> A Director may waive notice of any Board meeting in writing before or after the meeting. A Director's attendance at or participation in a meeting waives any required notice to that Director unless the Director:
  - (a) objects, either at the beginning of the meeting or upon arriving at the meeting, to the meeting or the transaction of business at the meeting, and
    - (b) does not vote on any action taken at the meeting.
- <u>Section 2.12</u> <u>Conduct of Meetings.</u> The Chairperson presides at each Board meeting. If the Chairperson is absent, the Vice-Chairperson presides. The meeting chair decides all matters of procedure for conducting the meeting unless a majority of Directors present determine otherwise.

- Section 2.13 <u>Unexcused Absences.</u> If during any 12-month period, a Director has three unexcused absences from Board meetings, then the Board by a two-thirds vote of all Directors may ask the County to remove that Director. An absence is considered excused only if the Board approves it.
- Section 2.14 Open Meetings Act. The Board must conduct its meetings in compliance with Michigan's Open Meetings Act.
- Section 2.15 Public Participation at Meetings. The Board must establish a time during each meeting for members of the public to address the Board. Each speaker is limited to four minutes, unless the time is otherwise extended by the Chairperson or by a majority of Directors present. The Board must adopt rules and procedures as required by Michigan's Open Meetings Act for the purpose of providing public participation.
- <u>Section 2.16</u> <u>Rules of Order</u>. The rules contained in the most recently published edition of Robert's Rule of Order shall govern all meetings of the Board, except as modified by a majority of the Directors present at any meeting. Any disputes as to rules of order and procedure shall be decided by the Board Chairperson, whose decision shall be final.

### Article III Officers

- <u>Section 3.1</u> <u>Officers.</u> The Board must appoint a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, and clerk. The Chairperson and vice Chairperson must each be a Director. The Board may appoint other officers. Officers have the authority described in these bylaws and as prescribed by the Board.
- Section 3.2 Appointment and Term of Office. The Board must appoint officers (by majority vote of the entire Board) at each annual meeting. If officers are not appointed at the annual meeting, the Board must appoint them promptly thereafter.
- Section 3.3 Removal. By a two-thirds vote of the entire Board, the Board may remove an officer with or without cause.
- <u>Section 3.4</u> <u>Vacancies.</u> The Board may fill an office vacancy for the unexpired portion of the term.
- <u>Section 3.5</u> <u>Chairperson.</u> The Chairperson is the principal executive officer of the Authority and shall in general supervise the Authority's business. The Chairperson may delegate duties to the vice Chairperson, executive Director, or otherwise. The Chairperson presides at all Board meetings and is an ex-officio member of all committees.
- Section 3.6 <u>Vice-Chairperson</u>. In the Chairperson's absence, or if the Chairperson is unable or unwilling to act, the vice-Chairperson performs the Chairperson's duties. The vice-Chairperson performs other duties as may be assigned by the Chairperson or by the Board.

Section 3.7 Clerk. The Clerk keeps the minutes of Board meetings, ensures that notices are given properly, keeps other Authority records, and performs other duties the Chairperson or the Board may assign. The Clerk must keep minutes and handle meeting notices in accordance with Michigan's Open Meetings Act.

<u>Section 3.8</u> <u>Executive Director.</u> The Board may employ an Executive Director to serve as the Authority's Chief Executive Officer, be responsible for the Authority's day-to-day operations, have the authority to appoint, employ, hire, terminate, and discipline all other Authority employees, and perform other duties the Board may assign.

Section 3.9 Committees. The Board may create committees, but no committee may include a quorum of the Board. Committees have only advisory authority and have no power to make a final decision, unless the Board provides otherwise, committee recommendations require approval by a majority of the committee members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present.

#### Article IV Additional Duties

Section 4.1 Contracts, Banking, etc. The Board may authorize any person to sign documents on the Authority's behalf. Unless the Board provides otherwise, a document requiring signature on the Authority's behalf must be signed by the Chairperson or vice Chairperson.

Section 4.2 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Authority shall begin on October 1 and shall end on September 30 of the following year.

Section 4.3 Audits. The Authority must provide for audits, budgets and appropriations as Act 196 requires.

## Article V Bylaw Amendments

Section 5.1 These bylaws may be amended only by a majority of all Directors The proposed amendment shall be considered over a period of two meetings of the Directors The proposed amendment will be introduced at the first meeting and may be considered for adoption at a second meeting.